
Grand Ledge Public Schools

Board of Education

JUNE 24, 2024 
REGULAR MEETING 
SAWDON ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 
BOARD ROOM 
6:00 PM



 
Grand Ledge Public Schools 

 

Regular Meeting 
of the 

Board of Education 
 

Please take notice that the Board of Education will hold a Regular Meeting on: 
 

Date:  Monday, June 24, 2024 
 

Place:  Sawdon Administration Building 
   Board Room 
   220 Lamson Street 

     Grand Ledge, MI  48837  
 

Once the meeting begins, it will be Live Streamed 
at: youtube.com/@GLPS21 (click on Live) 

 

 

Time:  6:00 p.m.  
 

Purpose:  Truth in Taxation / Truth in Budgeting Hearing, 
   Limited Tax Pledge & General Business 

 

Phone:  (517) 925-5400 
 

Board minutes are located at the Board of Education office, 220 Lamson 
Street, Grand Ledge, MI  48837 
 
 
  

William A. Barnes, Ed.D., Superintendent of Schools 
 
cc: Buildings 
 Board Members 
 Lansing State Journal 
 Melissa Mazzola, President, GLEA  
 Ashleigh Lore, Vice-President, GLEA 

Cindy Zerbe, President, MEA/NEA Unit I, Secretarial /Clerical 
 Denise Truman, President, MEA/NEA Unit III, Food Service 
 Allyson McCann, President, MEA/NEA Unit IV, TA/HC/Bus Assistants & Adv. Club 

Danis Peck, President, IUOE Local 547, A, B, C, E & H AFL-CIO, Bus Drivers 
Kelly LeSatz, President, IUOE Local 324, Custodians 
 

Date of Posting: June 7, 2024 

NOTE:  Individuals may address the Board for up to three (3) minutes in the Public Comment segment of the meeting.  Any person with a 
disability needing accommodations to attend a Board of Education meeting should contact Kim Manning at 925-5401 at least three (3) days 
prior to the date of the meeting he/she plans to attend 



 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
ON PROPOSED 2024-2025 BUDGET 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Monday, June 24, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in the Board Room at 
the Grand Ledge Administration Building, 220 Lamson Street, Grand Ledge, Michigan the 
Board of Education of Grand Ledge Public Schools will hold a PUBLIC HEARING to 
consider the district’s proposed 2024-2025 budget. 
 
The Board may not adopt its proposed 2024-2025 budget until after a public hearing.  A 
copy of the proposed 2024-2025 budget, including the proposed property tax millage rate, 
is available for public inspection during normal business hours at the Grand Ledge Public 
Schools Administration Building, Business Office, 220 Lamson Street, Grand Ledge, 
Michigan. 
 
The property tax millage rate proposed to be levied to support the proposed budget will 
be a subject of this hearing.1 

 

This notice is given by order of the Board of Education. 
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Kim Manning, Executive Assistant to the 
       Grand Ledge Public Schools 
       Board of Education 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
1This sentence must be printed in 11-point boldfaced type as shown. 



	
	

LIMITED	TAX	PLEDGE	
NOTICE	

	
PLEASE	TAKE	NOTICE	there	will	be	a	Regular	meeting	of	the	Board	of	Education	of	Grand	
Ledge	Public	Schools,	Eaton,	Clinton	and	Ionia	Counties,	Michigan.	
	
At	said	meeting,	the	Board	of	Education	will	consider	for	approval	its	proposed	State	Aid	
Note	(Limited	Tax	–	General	Obligation).		The	proposed	State	Aid	Note	(Limited	Tax	–	
General	Obligation),	if	issued,	will	contain	the	limited	tax	full	faith	and	credit	pledge	of	
Grand	Ledge	Public	Schools,	Eaton,	Clinton	and	Ionia	Counties,	Michigan.		
	
	 DATE	OF	MEETING:	 	 Monday,	June	24,	2024	
	

PLACE OF MEETING: Grand Ledge Administration Building  
Board Room 

     220 Lamson Street 
     Grand Ledge, MI  48837 

	 	
	 TIME	OF	MEETING:	 	 6:00	p.m.	
	
	 TELEPHONE	NUMBER	OF	
	 PRINCIPAL	OFFICE	OF	
	 BOARD	OF	EDUCATION:	 517-925-5401	
	
Board	minutes	are	located	at	the	principal	office	of	the	Board	of	Education	located	at	220	
Lamson	Street,	Grand	Ledge,	MI		48837.	
	
	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 ________________________________ 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Kim	Manning,	Executive	Assistant	to	the	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Grand	Ledge	Public	Schools	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Board	of	Education	



 
NOTE:  Individuals may address the Board for up to three (3) minutes in the Public Comment segments of the meeting.  If any 
person with a disability needs accommodations at the Board of Education meeting, please contact Kim Manning at 925-5401 at 
least three (3) days prior to the date of the meeting he/she plans to attend. 
 

Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education 
MEETING AGENDA 

Monday, June 24, 2024 
6:00 pm 

 

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance……………………..……......Nicole Shannon, President 
    

II. Roll Call………………………………………………….…..…..Dr. Bill Barnes, Superintendent 
 

III. Truth in Taxation / Truth in Budgeting Hearing 
 

IV. Approval of Agenda Items 
 

V. Approval of Consent Agenda Items 
A. June 10, 2024 Meeting Minutes & Closed Session Minutes 
B. Administrative Contract Renewal 
C. Administrative Hiring 

a. Executive Director of Curriculum, Instruction & Assessment 
D. Teacher Hirings 

Name Building Position Name Building Position 
Brian Diller Holbrook 4th Gr. Natalie Queen H.S. Hlth & Con. Science 
Savannah Harris H.S. English David Schmidt H.S. Math/STEM 
Madisyn Jackson H.S. Art Melanie Sutton Wacousta Resource 
Logan Massa H.S. Health Ginger Wittman Hayes 5th Gr. 
Matthew Powers Hayes 5th Gr.    

 

VI. Reports 
A. Capitol Connections 
B. Eaton RESA 
C. Grand Ledge Education Foundation 
D. Equity Diversity & Inclusion Committee 
E. Governance Committee 
F. Bond Update 
G. Superintendent 

 

VII. Public Comment 
 

VIII. Old Business 
A. Approval of Final 2023-2024 Budget Amendment Resolution 
B. Approval of 2024-2025 Budget Resolution 
C. Approval of 2024 Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for Eaton, Clinton & Ionia County 
D. Approval of 2024 Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for City of Grand Ledge & Delta Twp. 
E. Approval of Revised Board Policies 

a. PO 2461 (Recording of District Meetings Involving Students and/or Parents) 
b. PO 5330.02 (Opioid Antagonists) 
c. PO 6520 (Payroll Deductions) 
d. PO 7250 (Commemoration & Naming of School Facilities) 

 

IX. New Business 
A. Approval of November 5, 2024 Election Resolution and Ballot Language 
B. Approval of Server Purchase 
C. Approval of Bulletin 4 – Batch 2 (GLHS Renovations - Chiller Revisions) 

 

X. Comments from Staff and Board 
 

XI. Future Topics 
A. Board Bond Advisory – Monday, July 8, 2024, 5:15 p.m., Room 107 
B. Regular Meeting – Monday, July 8, 2024, 6:00 p.m., Board Room 

 

XII. Closed Session – Negotiations & Material Exempt from Disclosure (As per Section 8(1)(c) and 
Section 8(1)(h) of the Open Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976) 
 

XIII. Reconvene in Open Session 
 

XIV. Employee Contract 
A. MEA/NEA Unit IV – Paraeducators, Teacher Assistants, Health Care Paraeducators 
B. Approval of Resolution Authorizing Non-Binding Mediation  

 

XV. Adjournment 



"I pledge allegiance  

to the Flag  

of the United States of America,  

and to the republic  

for which it stands,  

one Nation under God,  

indivisible,  

with liberty and justice for all."

CALL TO ORDER & 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

President Nicole Shannon

6



ROLL CALL 

Superintendent Dr. Bill Barnes

7



PROPOSED MOTION: I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education OPEN the Truth in 
Taxation / Truth in Budgeting Hearing. 

TIME: ___________________ 

ROLL CALL VOTE

TRUTH IN TAXATION/TRUTH IN BUDGETING HEARING - OPEN

8



PROPOSED MOTION: I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education CLOSE the Truth 
in Taxation / Truth in Budgeting Hearing. 

TIME: ___________________ 

TRUTH IN TAXATION/TRUTH IN BUDGETING HEARING - CLOSE

9



PROPOSED MOTION: I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the                                  
June 24, 2024 Agenda Items, as presented. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA ITEMS

10



A. June 10, 2024 Meeting Minutes & Closed Session Minutes* 

B. Administrative Contract Renewal 

C. Administrative Hiring 

D. Teacher Hirings 

*Closed Session Minutes will be at your board places for review prior to action and collected at the end of the meeting. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the                     
June 24, 2024 Consent Agenda Items, as presented.

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

11



Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education 06-10-2024 
Work Session Meeting    Page 1  
 
 GRAND LEDGE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Board of Education 
 
 June 10, 2024 
 

MINUTES 
 
 
Secretary Kuykendoll called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.   She led those present in 
the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Roll Call by Superintendent Barnes indicated the presence of Board Members: Ashley 
Kuykendoll, Jarrod Smith, Ben Cwayna and Toni Glasscoe. Jon Shiflett joined the meeting 
at 6:05 p.m. Members Absent: Nicole Shannon, Denise DuFort. Central Office 
Administrators: Bill Barnes, Steve Gabriel, Julie Waterbury, Wendy Seida, Kelly Jones, 
Mark Deschaine and John Ellsworth.  Others in Attendance: Brenton Bell, Susan Hazen, 
Lily Anderson, Coban Holmes, Tim Totten, Melanie Wright, Nola Cockroft, Sarah Hopper, 
SallyJo Nelton, Kali Stevens, Justin Heany, Rickie Kuykendoll and Kim Manning 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Mr. Smith reviewed the rules for giving public comment. 
 
Brenton Bell addressed the board in support of the employee contracts. 
 
Nola Cockroft & Sarah Hopper addressed the board thanking them for their dedication to 
the students, families and staff expressing appreciation for their service.  They thanked them 
for the consideration of their contract and expressed their gratitude to the administrative 
negotiating team noting it was a very collaborative and positive process. 
 
Tim Totten addressed the board to express his concerns regarding a film used in his 
daughter’s math class noting he opted his daughter out of viewing the film and she was 
provided an alternate assignment.  
 
SUPERINTENDENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE – Staff Relations 
Superintendent Barnes noted that under new legislation, the current tool used to evaluate 
the Superintendent is changing which may change focus areas as well.  However, he is 
moving forward with continuing his Performance Updates based on the current focus areas.   
 
Superintendent Barnes provided his update with a focus on Section C of the 
Superintendent’s Evaluation Rubric, Staff Relations. He provided the established goals and 
the current initiative established under each of the goals including staff feedback, staff 
communication, personnel matters, delegation of duties, recruitment, labor relations, and 
visibility in the district. 
 



Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education 06-10-2024 
Work Session Meeting    Page 2  
 
Dr. Glasscoe commended Dr. Barnes stating he does an excellent job in being engaged 
and making every effort to connect.  She encouraged him to continue to work on his 
delegation noting that it is important to rest and have time with family.   
 
Mr. Smith noted the student feedback visits Dr. Barnes has implemented as well.  Dr. 
Barnes explained the Student School Improvement Team meetings noting it provides an 
opportunity for the students to share their perspectives as well as providing another 
opportunity to be in the buildings, shared that students are randomly selected out of 
PowerSchool and it is another way for him to get to know the students, and for them to get 
to know him.   
 
Secretary Kuykendoll noted Dr. Barnes’ presence during emergencies specifically 
referencing him being on site when the power went out at Wacousta and helping ensure 
the students knew they were safe.  She commended him for making himself available to 
assist. 
 
Dr. Barnes noted you lead from out front and in those kinds of situations it is an all-hands 
on deck and he and the leadership team will always make themselves available to assist. 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
A. BOARD POLICIES – 1ST READING 

Motion by Mr. Smith, seconded by Dr. Glasscoe for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education waive the first reading of revised Board Policies 5330.02 and 
7250, as presented. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
In President Shannon’s absence, Superintendent Barnes reviewed the Governance 
Committee’s proposed changes to each of the policies. 
 

B. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
Motion by Dr. Glasscoe, seconded by Mr. Cwayna for the Grand Ledge Public 
Schools Board of Education to approve the Meeting Minutes, as presented. The 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
C. APPROVAL OF TEACHER HIRINGS 

Motion by Mr. Cwayna, seconded by Mr. Smith for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education to approve the Teacher Hirings, as presented. The motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
D. APPROVAL OF RATIFYING RESOLUTION – 2024 SCHOOL BUILDING & SITE BONDS, SERIES IV 

Motion by Mr. Cwayna, seconded by Mr. Shiflett for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education to approve the 2024 School Building and Site Bonds, Series IV 
Ratifying Resolution, as presented.   
 
Mr. Shiflett shared that by creating the bonds in series, the taxpayers have seen a $1.7M 
savings over if the district had opted to take all the bonds at once. 
 



Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education 06-10-2024 
Work Session Meeting    Page 3  
 

Dr. Barnes shared the process of meeting with our financial advisors, receiving bids 
and noting the rate the district received is due to the financial condition of the district.  
He commended Chief Financial Officer Julie Waterbury noting she did a lot of the 
behind the scenes on this process. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 

Mr. Shiflett YES Dr. Glasscoe YES 
Mr. Smith YES Mr. Cwayna YES 

Ms. Kuykendoll YES   
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

E. PAYMENT OF SINKING FUND INVOICES 
Motion by Dr. Glasscoe, seconded by Mr. Smith for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education to approve the Payment of Sinking Fund Invoices in the amount 
of $128,603.24, as presented.   
 
Mr. Smith advised this was reviewed by the Board Bond Committee and approved to 
be brought forward for the board’s consideration.  This represents work at Neff, 
Sawdon at the Health Center at the high school. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
F. PAYMENT OF PROPOSAL 1, SERIES 2 BOND INVOICES 

Motion by Mr. Smith, seconded by Mr. Cwayna for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education to approve the Payment of Proposal 1, Series 2 Bond Invoices in 
the amount of $748,408.92, as presented.   
 
Mr. Smith advised this was reviewed by the Board Bond Committee and approved to 
be brought forward for the board’s consideration.  This represents regular payments to 
Clark Construction and trades at Wacousta. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
G. PAYMENT OF PROPOSAL 1, SERIES 3 BOND INVOICES 

Motion by Mr. Smith, seconded by Mr. Cwayna for the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Board of Education to approve the Payment of Proposal 1, Series 3 Bond Invoices in 
the amount of $527,151.92, as presented.   
 
Mr. Smith advised this was reviewed by the Board Bond Committee and approved to 
be brought forward for the board’s consideration.  This represents regular payments to 
Clark Construction and GMB Architects and trades work at the Neff and the High 
School. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 



Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education 06-10-2024 
Work Session Meeting    Page 4  
 
COMMENTS FROM STAFF & BOARD 
 
Director of Human Resources Kelly Jones thanked Ms. Cockroft and Ms. Hopper noting they 
make up an amazing team to work with and she welcome the new teachers. 
 
Assistant Superintendent for Academic Services Steve Gabriel welcomed the new teachers and 
congratulated the Class of 2024 who graduated last Friday.   
 
Superintendent Barnes congratulated the Class of 2024 noting it was a wonderful ceremony, 
expressed his appreciation to the negotiation teams and noting everyone worked very well 
together.  With regard to public comment regarding the use of films he noted that teachers use 
film in their class for a variety of reasons.  He shared that you can view the Academic Servies 
webpage to see how instructional choices are made.  He noted the film in question was rated 
PG-13 and the district trusts the judgement of the teachers to pick items that are relevant to 
their class just as we trust parents to make choices for their child, which is why alternate 
assignments are provided. 
 
Dr. Glasscoe recognized the difficult work of human resources and commended tonight’s staff 
hirings.  She recognized the amazing work of Chief Financial Officer Julie Waterbury.  She 
shared she was so proud to see all the students and staff at graduation and expressed she loved 
seeing Dr. Wright giving high fives to every single student.  She remarked that conversations 
she had in the parking lot after graduation were very rich for her.  In closing, she recognized 
upcoming Juneteenth celebrations and invited everyone to attend LCC’s celebration this 
Thursday at 6:00 p.m. in the Michigan Room. 
 
Mr. Smith welcomed the teachers.  He recognized the upcoming employee contracts and 
congratulated both sides recognizing the collaboration and working with each other.  He noted 
he understands the IBB takes effort, it is a grind, and was a relatively new concept but 
recognized several successful contract settlements as a result of it. 
 
Secretary Kuykendoll congratulated the Class of 2024 and thanked everyone for their patience 
as chaired her first meeting. 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
Motion by Mr. Shiflett, seconded by Mr. Smith for the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of 
Education to move into Closed Session for the purpose of discussing Negotiations Strategies, 
as Per Section 8(1)(c) of the Open Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976 and Material Exempt from 
Disclosure, as Per Section 8(1)(h) of the Open Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 

Mr. Smith YES Mr. Cwayna YES 
Ms. Kuykendoll YES Mr. Shiflett YES 

Dr. Glasscoe YES   
 
The motion carried unanimously at 6:47 p.m. 
 
RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION 
The meeting reconvened in open session at 7:20 p.m. 



Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education 06-10-2024 
Work Session Meeting    Page 5  
 
 
EMPLOYEE CONTRACTS 
Motion by Mr. Cwayna, seconded by Dr. Glasscoe for the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board 
of Education to approve the Individual Employee Contracts between the Grand Ledge 
Principals’ Educational Association, MEA/NEA Unit I Secretarial / Clerical and Teamsters 
Local 214 Bus Drivers and the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education, as presented.  
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 7:22 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted:    Attest: 
 
 
 
________________________________  _______________________________ 
Ashley Kuykendoll, Secretary   Nicole Shannon, President 



 
William A. Barnes, Ed.D. / Superintendent of Schools 

220 Lamson Street � Grand Ledge, MI  48837 � (517) 925-5400 � FAX (517) 925-5409 

 
 

TO: Board of Education Members 

FROM: Dr. William A. Barnes, Superintendent of Schools 

RE: Approval of Individual Administrative Contract Extensions 

DATE: June 24, 2024 

 
I have conducted Performance Reviews for all members of the Grand Ledge Public Schools 
Administrative Team for the 2023-2024 school year.  The administrative team at GLPS as a whole, and 
individually, is strong, and the team members are committed to school, community, and student growth 
within our strategic plan. 
 
It is my recommendation the Board of Education grant a one-year extension to the following individuals: 
 
Central Administration 

• Dr. Steve Gabriel, Deputy Superintendent (Title Change from Assistant Superintendent for 
Academic Services as a part of the central office reconfiguration) 

• Julie Waterbury, Chief Financial Officer 
• Wendy Seida, Executive Director of Student Services 
• Mark Deschaine, Executive Director of Technology 
• Kelly Jones, Director of Human Resources 
• John Ellsworth, Director of Communications 

 
Building Administration 

• Ken Wright, Grand Ledge High School Principal 
• Blake Wegenke, Grand Ledge High School Assistant Principal 
• Tonya Rice, Grand Ledge High School Assistant Principal 
• David Kushman, Beagle Middle School Principal 
• Kelly Shumway, Beagle Middle School Assistant Principal 
• Eric Leopold, Hayes Intermediate School Principal 
• Scott Millbrook, Hayes Intermediate School Assistant Principal 
• Teresa Dyer, Delta Center Elementary School Principal 
• Christopher Groves, Wacousta Elementary School Principal 
• Jim Gee, Willow Ridge Elementary School Principal 
• Trisha Brentar, Grand Ledge Public Schools Virtual Learning Principal  
• Steve Baker, Director of Athletics 

 



 
 

William A. Barnes, Ed.D. / Superintendent of Schools 

220 Lamson Street � Grand Ledge, MI  48837 � (517) 925-5400 � FAX (517) 925-5409 

 

TO: Board of Education Members 
FROM: Dr. William A. Barnes, Superintendent of Schools 
RE: Administrative Hiring Recommendation 
DATE: June 23, 2023 

 
Recommendation 
I recommend the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the hiring of Dr. William 
Albrecht as Executive Director of Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment. 
 
Background 
Over the past 6 months, we have examined our central office structure, its ability to support staff, and its 
alignment to our strategic plan. From that analysis, it was clear that rather than replacing the Director of 
Operations position that was vacated with Mr. Warren’s resignation in December, we needed additional 
instructional support. That led to the creation of this position, which replaces the previously budgeted 
Director of Operations. Dr. Albrecht emerged as the best candidate for the position after a rigorous, three 
round interview process that included administrators, teachers, and instructional coaches. We are 
excited that he will be bringing a wealth of knowledge and experience to the role, and that he will be 
able to expand his positive impact on the Holbrook school community to the whole district. 
 
  
 

 
 

 



































































A.  Capitol Connections Report 

B.  Eaton RESA Report 

C.  Grand Ledge Education Foundation Report 

D.  Equity, Diversity & Inclusion Committee   

E.  Governance Committee Report 

F.  Bond Update 

G.  Superintendent’s Report

REPORTS

51



Persons may address the board for up to three (3) minutes in the Public Comment segment of the meeting by          
providing your name and jurisdiction (City, Township / County) on one of the Public Comment forms provided at the 
sign in table and turning it in to the Superintendent’s Assistant. 

The meeting chair will use the Public Comment forms submitted to invite persons to come forward to make their  
public comment at the appropriate time. 

Board Meetings are constructed to conduct necessary business of the board, while allowing time for the public to   
express concerns and opinions.   

Out of respect for board members, students and staff, you will be interrupted if you: 
• Personally attack a board member or district employee on issues unrelated to their job performance. 
• Mention a student’s name when discussing behavior or other incidents. 
• Engage in discussion with other members of the audience. 

You will be reminded when you are approaching the end of your three-minute limit so you can conclude with your 
strongest points. 

The board will not respond to questions or comments during public comment but the Superintendent will do his best 
to answer questions at the end of the meeting.  If immediate answers are not available, arrangements will be made to    
provide you with the information requested. 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

52



A.  Approval of Final 2023-2024 Budget Amendment Resolution 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the Final 
2023-2024 Budget Amendment Resolution, as presented. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 

OLD BUSINESS A

53





















B. Approval of 2024-2025 Budget Resolution 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the 
2024-2025 General Fund, Food Service, Debt Service, Student Activity, General Capital Projects, 
School Store, Sinking Fund, Community Education, 2021 Capital Projects Proposal 1, 2021 Capital 
Projects Proposal 2, 2023 Capital Projects Proposal 1 and 2024 Capital Projects Proposal 1                
Resolution, as presented. 

ROLL CALL VOTE

OLD BUSINESS B

63





























C.  Approval of 2024 Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for Eaton, Clinton & Ionia County 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the 2024 
Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for Eaton, Clinton and Ionia Counties, as presented.

OLD BUSINESS C

77





D. Approval of 2024 Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for City of Grand Ledge & Delta Township 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the 2024 
Tax Rate Request Form (L-4029) for the City of Grand Ledge and Delta Township, as presented.

OLD BUSINESS D

79





E.  Approval of Revised Board Policies 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve Board 
Policies 2461, 5330.02, 6520 and 7250 as presented.

OLD BUSINESS E

81



BookPolicy Manual
Section2000 Program
TitleRECORDING OF DISTRICT MEETINGS INVOLVING STUDENTS AND/OR PARENTS
Codepo2461
StatusActive
AdoptedFebruary 5, 2024

2461 - RECORDING OF DISTRICT MEETINGS INVOLVING STUDENTS AND/OR PARENTS

Recording of IEP Team and 504 Team Meetings

The recording of IEP Team meetings and 504 Team meetings is prohibited unless it is necessary in order for
a parent to understand the IEP process or 504 process and/or his/her child's IEP or 504 Plan, or otherwise
necessary to implement other parental rights under the IDEA, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,
as amended, and/or the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended.

A. If a parent believes that audio recording an IEP Team or 504 Team meeting is necessary, s/he
should notify the Executive Director of Student Services in writing, preferably at least two (2) school
days before the IEP Team or 504 Team meeting, of his/her desire to audio record the meeting and
the reason the recording is required. The Executive Director of Student Services will notify the
parent at least one (1) school day before the meeting if s/he intends to deny the parent's request to
record the meeting.

B. If the District representative denies the request, s/he will state in writing the reasons for the denial.
Authorized exceptions to the general prohibition against the audio recording of IEP Team meetings
and 504 Team meetings will typically involve situations when a parent or other IEP Team or 504
Team member has a disability recognized under Section 504/ADA or a language barrier that would
preclude the individual's ability to understand and/or meaningfully participate in the IEP process or
504 process. The District representative may ask for documentation of the existence of any such
disability or language barrier. If a parent is permitted to audio record the meeting, s/he must use
his/her own recording device and the District will similarly record the meeting.

Recording of Other District Meetings Involving Students and/or Parents (e.g., Parent-Teacher
Conferences)

Parents are prohibited from audio recording meetings with the District unless a parent or District staff
member has a disability recognized under Section 504/ADA or a language barrier that would preclude the
individual's ability to understand and/or participate in the meeting. The District representative may ask for
documentation of the existence of any such disability or language barrier. If a parent is permitted to audio
record the meeting, s/he must use his/her own recording device and the District will similarly record the
meeting.



Video recording any District meeting is strictly prohibited, with the exception of meetings open to the public
under the Open Meetings Act.

Parents and students are expressly prohibited from using covert means to listen-in or make a recording
(audio or video) of any meeting or activity at school. This includes placing recording devices, or other
devices with one- or two-way audio communication technology (i.e., technology that allows a person off-site
to listen to live conversations and sounds taking place in the location where the device is located), within a
student's book bag, on the student's person or otherwise in an area capable of listening in or recording
without express written consent of the Superintendent or designee. Any requests to place a recording device
or other device with one- or two-way audio communication technology within a student’s book bag or on a
student’s person shall be submitted, in writing, to the Principal. The District representative shall notify the
parent(s), in writing, whether such request is denied or granted within five (5) days.

Parents can record meetings that do not fall under the above criteria, but must communicate with the
administrator overseeing the meeting before recording. If a third party records the meeting, the district
representative will record the meeting as well, and it will become a part of the child’s educational record.

If the District audio records any meeting, the resulting recording shall become a part of the student's
educational record and will be maintained in accordance with State and Federal law.

© Neola 2017



NEOLA Policy
5000 Students Template
OPIOID ANTAGONISTS
PO 5330.02

5330.02 - OPIOID ANTAGONISTS

The Board has determined that it is in the best interests of its students and employees to have opioid
antagonists available to be administered, if necessary, by appropriately trained personnel. Therefore, the
Board adopts this policy to govern the handling and administration of opioid antagonists consistent with the
following processes, procedures and limitations.

District shall purchase opioid antagonists and distribute the opioid antagonists to an employee or agent of
the District who has been trained in the administration of that opioid antagonist. An opioid antagonist is
naloxone hydrochloride or any other similarly acting and equally safe drug approved by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration for the treatment of drug overdose.

A District employee or agent may possess an opioid antagonist distributed to that employee or agent and
may administer that opioid antagonist to an individual only if both of the following apply:

A. The employee or agent has been trained in the proper administration of that opioid antagonist.

B. The employee or agent has reason to believe that the individual is experiencing an opioid-related
overdose.

[OPTIONAL LANGUAGE]

Each school in the District shall have at least ( X) two (2) () ________ employees who have been trained in
the appropriate use and administration of an opioid antagonist. The training shall be done in a manner that
has been approved by (X) a licensed registered professional nurse ( )
___________________________________. Only an appropriately trained school employee or agent may
possess and administer an opioid antagonist.

Each school in the District shall possess at least one (1) package of an opioid antagonist on site. The opioid
antagonist may be administered by a trained school employee or agent to a student or other individual on
school grounds who is believed to be having an opioid-related overdose.

[END OF OPTIONAL LANGUAGE]

An opioid-related overdose is a condition, including, but not limited to, extreme physical illness, decreased
level of consciousness, respiratory depression, coma, or death, that results from the consumption or use of
an opioid or another substance with which an opioid was combined or that a reasonable person would
believe to be an opioid-related overdose that requires medical assistance.

Any school personnel who have reason to believe that a student is having an opioid-related overdose must
call 911.

[SELECT ANY OR NONE OF THE FOLLOWING OPTIONS]



[ X]  Any person who administers an opioid antagonist to a student shall promptly notify the

( ) student’s parent/guardian.

(X) __The building administrator or school nurse_________________, who shall be responsible for
promptly notifying the student’s parent/guardian that an injection has been administered.

[X ] The person who notifies the student's parent/guardian must encourage the parent or guardian to seek
treatment for the student from a substance use disorder services program.

[X] It shall be the responsibility of the ____school nurse___ [insert person or position] to be sure that
the supply of opioid antagonists is maintained at the appropriate level and they have not expired. The
_____school nurse________ shall also be responsible for coordinating the training of District employees to
administer the opioid antagonists and to maintain the list of employees authorized to administer the
antagonists.

[X] The District's training regarding, administration of, and the maintenance and storage of opioid
antagonists shall be consistent with PO 5330, AG 5330 and the Michigan Department of Education's
medication administration guidelines, as amended.

© Neola 2019



BookPolicy Manual
Section6000 Finances
TitlePAYROLL DEDUCTIONS
Codepo6520
StatusActive

Legal

M.C.L. 380.1224, 408.477; 423.210 (2012 P.A. 53)

M.E.A. v. Secretary of State, (on rehearing) 489 Mich. 104 (2011)

Mich. OAG 7187 (2006)

AdoptedFebruary 5, 2024

6520 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

The Board authorizes in accordance with the provisions of law or upon proper authorization on the
appropriate form that deductions be made from an employee's paycheck form for the following purposes:

A. Federal and State income tax

B. Social Security

C. Municipal income tax

D. Public School Employees Retirement System

E. Michigan Public School Employment Retirement System (MPSERS) Tax Deferred Payment (TDP) plan

Deductions are not allowed for dues or service fees for a labor organization or for contributions to political
action committees.

To the extent permitted by law and in accordance with the procedures set forth below, the Board of
Education declares its willingness to enter into an agreement with any of its employees whereby the
employee agrees to take a reduction in salary with respect to amounts earned after the effective date of
such agreement in return for the Board's agreement to use a corresponding amount to purchase an annuity
for such employee (or group of employees desiring the same annuity company) from any company
authorized to transact the business as specified in law in accordance with Section 403(b), 401k, 457b, or
any like eligible retirement account provision of the Internal Revenue Code, and in accordance with the
District's administrative guidelines. However, it shall be clearly understood that the Board's only function
shall be the deduction and remittance of employee funds.



In any case where the employee designates the agent, broker or company through whom the Board shall
arrange for the placement or purchase of the tax-sheltered annuity, the agent, broker or company must
execute a reasonable service agreement, an information sharing agreement, and/or other similar
agreements as determined at the discretion of the District. The service agreement shall include a provision
that protects, indemnifies, and holds the District harmless from any liability attendant to procuring the
annuity in accordance with provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other applicable Federal or State
law.

The Board may limit the number of participating providers and select approved providers.

The Board, by providing employees with payroll deduction services for annuities, is not providing any
financial advice to employees, and is not vouching for the suitability of any investment or any annuity
provider. The District assumes no responsibility or liability for any investment decisions or losses with
respect to employee annuity purchases.

Said agreement shall comply with all of the provisions of law and may be terminated as said law provides
upon notice in writing by either party. Employees shall notify the Superintendent's Office in writing if they
wish to participate in such a program.

© Neola 2013



BookPolicy Manual
Section7000 Property
TitleCOMMEMORATION AND NAMING OF SCHOOL FACILITIES
Codepo7250
StatusActive
AdoptedFebruary 5, 2024

7250 - COMMEMORATION AND NAMING OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

 

Commemoration

 

From time-to-time, the Board of Education may wish to commemorate a school building or District facility 
(gymnasium, swimming pool, athletic field, etc.) by means of naming the facility after a person. Such 
commemoration should be reserved only for those individuals who have made a significant contribution to 
the enhancement of education generally or the District in particular or to the well-being of the District, 
community, State or nation.

 

Any employee of the District thus honored must be deceased or no longer employed by the District prior to 
the Board’s selection of his/her name for commemoration honor.

 

Proposals from the Board or from a community group shall be given to the Superintendent Facilities 
Naming Advisory Committee.  The Superintendent will select the members of an the advisory committee 
such that it is composed of the Superintendent (or designee), the athletic director (or facility 
administrator, as appropriate), two more district employees, and three community members not 
employed by the district.  Term limits and meeting schedule The advisory committee shall review the details 
of the proposal.  If the naming proposal came from a community group, the advisory committee shall seek 
input from a representative of that group.  If naming an athletic facility, the advisory committee shall seek 
input from varsity coaches who will use the facility regularly.

 

The advisory committee will present a recommendation to the Board of Education for discussion and action.

 

Naming Rights

 

The District may sell the right to name particular facilities owned by the District.

 

All such naming rights shall be done pursuant to a contract, which must be approved by the Board.

 

Any naming contract shall not extend for more than five (5) years.



 

No naming contract shall be approved for companies or individuals that market items which are 
inappropriate or illegal for minors to use (e.g., alcohol, tobacco, cannabis THC, vapes, etc.).

 

All such contracts shall contain a provision that the naming rights revert immediately to the District upon 
expiration of the contract or upon any material breach of the naming contract by the purchaser.

 

All such contracts shall contain a provision that the contract is immediately terminated upon the declaration 
of bankruptcy by the purchaser, and shall not become an asset of the debtor.



A.   Approval of November 5, 2024 Election Resolution and Ballot Language 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the     
November 5, 2024 Election Resolution and Ballot Language, as presented. 

ROLL CALL VOTE

NEW BUSINESS A

90



 
 

Grand Ledge Public Schools, Eaton, Clinton and Ionia Counties, Michigan (the “District”) 

A regular meeting of the board of education of the District (the “Board”) was held in the 
Board Room, within the boundaries of the District, on the 24th day of June, 2024, at 6 o’clock in 
the p.m. (the “Meeting”). 

The Meeting was called to order by _____________________, President. 

Present: Members                                 

Absent: Members                                 

The following preamble and resolution were offered by Member ___________________ 
and supported by Member ____________________: 

WHEREAS:  

1. Pursuant to the Michigan Election Law, the District’s regular school election shall 
be held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of even years. 

2. It is necessary to conduct the District’s regular election on Tuesday, November 5, 
2024, to fill one or more Board positions. 

3. On or before 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, August 13, 2024, the Board shall certify any 
ballot proposition to be submitted to the voters at such election to the election coordinator or 
coordinators designated to conduct elections within the District (the “Election Coordinator”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The regular school election of the school electors of the District be called and held 
on Tuesday, November 5, 2024. 

2. The propositions to be voted on at the regular school election shall be stated on the 
ballots in substantially the form as set forth in Exhibit A.  

3. The Election Coordinator is requested to: 

a. Utilize the Lansing State Journal, a newspaper published or of general circulation 
within the District, for publication of notices in accordance with the election law 
requirements. 

b. Utilize ballot proposition summary information, as prepared by legal counsel, in 
the forms of the notices of last day of registration and election in substantially the 
form as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto. 

c. Provide a proof copy of the ballots to the District and its legal counsel in sufficient 
time to allow the ballots to be proofread prior to printing. 

4. The Secretary of this Board is hereby authorized and directed to file a copy of this 
resolution with the Election Coordinator and with any Election Clerk or clerks designated to 
conduct elections within the District by 4:00 p.m., on Tuesday, August 13, 2024. 



 
 

2 

5. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions 
of this resolution are hereby rescinded. 

Ayes:  Members                 

Nays:  Members                  

Resolution declared adopted. 

  
Secretary, Board of Education 

The undersigned duly qualified and acting Secretary of the Board of Education of Grand 
Ledge Public Schools, Eaton, Clinton and Ionia Counties, Michigan, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Board at the Meeting, 
the original of which is part of the Board’s minutes. The undersigned further certifies that notice 
of the Meeting was given to the public pursuant to the provisions of the “Open Meetings Act” (Act 
267, Public Acts of Michigan, 1976, as amended). 

  
Secretary, Board of Education 

CJI/klg 
  



 
 

3 

EXHIBIT A 
 
I. GRAND LEDGE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 OPERATING MILLAGE PROPOSAL 

This proposal will allow the school district to continue to levy the statutory rate of 
not to exceed 18 mills on all property, except principal residence and other property 
exempted by law, required for the school district to receive its revenue per pupil 
foundation allowance. 

Shall the limitation on the amount of taxes which may be assessed against all property, except 
principal residence and other property exempted by law, in Grand Ledge Public Schools, Eaton, 
Clinton and Ionia Counties, Michigan, be increased by 18.8899 mills ($18.8899 on each $1,000 of 
taxable valuation) for a period of 10 years, 2025 to 2034, inclusive, to provide funds for operating 
purposes (if the millage is approved, it will replace an 18.8899 mill operating millage that expired 
with the 2024 tax levy and the estimate of the revenue the school district will collect in 2025 if the 
statutory limit of 18 mills are levied is approximately $12,485,000)? 

II. GRAND LEDGE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 SINKING FUND MILLAGE PROPOSAL 

Shall the limitation on the amount of taxes which may be assessed against all property in Grand 
Ledge Public Schools, Eaton, Clinton and Ionia Counties, Michigan, be increased by and the board 
of education be authorized to levy not to exceed 0.7921 mill ($0.7921 on each $1,000 of taxable 
valuation) for a period of 10 years, 2025 to 2034, inclusive, to create a sinking fund for the 
purchase of real estate for sites for and the construction or repair of school buildings; for school 
security improvements; for the acquisition or upgrading of technology; for the acquisition of 
student transportation vehicles; for the acquisition of parts, supplies, and equipment used for the 
maintenance of student transportation vehicles; for the acquisition of eligible trucks and vans used 
to carry parts, equipment, and personnel for or in the maintenance of school buildings; for the 
acquisition of parts, supplies, and equipment used to maintain such trucks and vans; and all other 
purposes authorized by law; the estimate of the revenue the school district will collect if the millage 
is approved and levied in 2025 is approximately $1,610,000 (this replaces a 0.7921 mill sinking 
fund millage that expired with the 2024 tax levy)? 

 



 
 

4 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

SUMMARIES OF BALLOT PROPOSITIONS TO BE INSERTED IN THE 
NOTICES OF LAST DAY OF REGISTRATION AND ELECTION: 

 
I. GRAND LEDGE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OPERATING MILLAGE RENEWAL PROPOSAL 
EXEMPTING PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE 

AND OTHER PROPERTY EXEMPTED BY LAW 
18.8899 MILLS FOR 10 YEARS 

II. GRAND LEDGE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
SINKING FUND MILLAGE PROPOSAL 

0.7921 MILL FOR 10 YEARS 
 
 Full text of the ballot propositions may be obtained at the administrative offices of Grand 
Ledge Public Schools, 220 Lamson Street, Grand Ledge, Michigan 48837-1760, telephone: (517) 
925-5400.  
 



B.   Approval of Server Purchase 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the use 
of Security Grant Funding for the Server Purchase from Joletec in the amount of $35,940, as                 
presented. 

NEW BUSINESS B

95



 

Mark Deschaine, Executive Director of Technology 
220 Lamson St 
Grand Ledge   MI   48837 
deschainem@glcomets.net 
O 517.925.5446   F 517.925.5409 

 
To: Dr. Bill Barnes, Superintendent 
From: Mark Deschaine, Executive Director of Technology	 
Subject: Server Purchase Recommendation 
Date: June 4, 2024 
 
Recommendation 
I recommend the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the following 
Purchase with Security Grant Funding: 
 

 (3) Dell PowerEdge Servers w installation 35,940.00 
Total 35,940.00 
 

This recommendation includes replacement security camera servers. 
 
Here is a summary of the bid results: 

Company Manufacture Base Bid 
Joletec Dell 35,940.00 
Joletec HPE ProLiant 35,940.00 
R Associates Supermicro 39,993.30 
Joletec Dell 43,740.00 
Joletec HPE ProLiant 43,740.00 
Presidio BCD 49,450.00 
Sehi  HPE ProLiant 56,888.34 
Yeo & Yeo Lenovo 58,124.10 
Hi-Tech HPE ProLiant 136,489.95 

 
  
 





C.   Approval of Bulletin 4 - Batch 2 (GLHS Renovations - Chiller Revisions) 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve Bulletin 
4 - Batch 2 in the amount of $210,240 for the Grand Ledge High School Renovations Project, Chiller 
Revisions, as presented. 

NEW BUSINESS C

98



t N82Aql2tlA .t A u qA l8 N . 8 A klu A
u

o u u uO u u uu
ul up uO u ul u

A
k A A A

A
A

J A A A A A A A A A A A A A At Aq A
A A A AA2 A A A A A A A A A u A A

u A A A A A A A A A A A J A A
A A A A A Atq A A A A A A Atq A AJ A

A A A A AJ A AAAAA
A

•� POpuol ptu Up l7u lFpuO 7P Fu p u
o� A A A A A At Aq A A A A A A

A A A A A AAA
o� A A A A A A A A A A

A A A A A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A

A AAN A A A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A AAA

A
•� P P Pl7up P l puY u P OUP Fu u ulP uO 7ptuOUP77p u

o� t7JA A A A A Au Au Au A A A A
A A A A A A A A

o� A A A A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A A A A A

A A A A A A AA A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A

o� A A A A A A A A AA A A
A A A A A A A AA A

A A A A A A A NuA A A A A A
A A

o� A A A A A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A A A A A A

AA A A A A A A A A A A lA
A A A A A A A

u u



•� o 77p P u A
o� J A A A A At7JA A A A A A AAA
o� A A A A A A A A AAA

A
�� o u u O u u A

•� J A7 A A A A A A A A A
AAA

•� Al A A A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A A AA A
A A A A A A AAA

•� A A A A A A A A A AA A
A A A A A A A A A A A

A A A A
•� l7uY uo 77p P u u uol OUu u u uu u u

u u u u u u u u u u u
A

A
�� o u u O u u AA

•� Al A A A A A A A A
A A AA A A A A A At7J A
A A

•� l Al A A A A A A A A
A A A A A A A A A A A

•� l7uY uo 77p P u u uol OUu u u A
A

�� Upu l7u p l77uO uY uo 77p P u u uU lOu F ltp u u
A

A
•� A At Aq A A A A A A A A A A

A A A A A A A A

A



COMMENTS FROM STAFF & BOARD

101



• Board Bond Advisory - Monday, July 8, 2024, 5:15 p.m., Room 107 

• Regular Meeting - Monday, July 8, 2024, 6:00 p.m., Board Room 

*Only 1 meeting in July due to the summer recess. 

FUTURE TOPICS

102



Negotiations & Material Exempt from Disclosure - Per Section 8(1)(c) and Section 8(1)(h)of the 
Open Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education move into Closed 
Session for the purpose of discussing Negotiations Strategies, as Per Section 8(1)(c) of the Open   
Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976 and reviewing Material Exempt from Disclosure, as Per Section 8(1)(h) 
of the Open Meetings Act, PA 267 of 1976. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 

CLOSED SESSION

103



   Time:  _________________________

RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION

104



A.  MEA/NEA Unit IV - Paraeducators, Teacher Assistants, Health Care Paraeducators 

PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the      
Employee Contract between the MEA/NEA Unit IV, Paraeducators, Teacher Assistants, Health Care 
Paraeducators and the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education, as presented.

EMPLOYEE CONTRACT

105



PROPOSED MOTION:  I move the Grand Ledge Public Schools Board of Education approve the             
Resolution Authorizing Non-Binding Mediation, as presented. 

ROLL CALL VOTE

APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING NON-BINDING MEDIATION

106



   Time:  _________________________

ADJOURNMENT

107


	Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance
	Roll Call
	TRUTH IN TAXATION/TRUTH IN BUDGETING HEARING - OPEN
	TRUTH IN TAXATION/TRUTH IN BUDGETING HEARING - CLOSE
	Approval of Agenda items
	Approval of Consent Agenda Items
	Reports
	Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items
	Old Business A
	Old Business B
	Old Business C
	Old Business D
	Old Business E
	New Business A
	New Business B
	New Business C
	Comments FROM STAFF & BOARD
	Future Topics
	Closed Session
	Reconvene in Open Session
	Employee Contract
	Approval of Resolution Authorizing Non-Binding Mediation
	Adjournment

